
DEPARTMENT OF PURCHASING & CONTRACT COMPLIANCE 

Winner 2000- 2008 Achievement of Excellence in Procurement Award 
National Purchasing Institute 

 
Felicia Strong-Whitaker, Interim Director   

 
 
 
April 10, 2009 
 

 
Re:     09RFP67361A-CC 

Wolf Creek Amphitheater Operator 
 
Dear Proposers: 
 
Attached is one (1) copy of Addendum 1, hereby made a part of the above 
referenced Request For Proposal (RFP).   
 
Except as provided herein, all terms and conditions in the RFP referenced above 
remain unchanged and in full force and effect. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Cheryl Cochran 
 
Cheryl Cochran 
Chief Assistant Purchasing Agent  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Revised 01/02/2008 



Revised 01/02/2008 
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This Addendum forms a part of the contract documents and modifies the original 
RFP documents as noted below: 
 
 
The solicitation document for the above referenced RFP posted to the 
Fulton County Website at www.fultoncountyga.gov on Thursday, April 2, 
2009 is deleted in its entirety and replaced by an updated RFP document.   
 
Please download the revised copy of the RFP document and submit a 
response no later than the RFP due date of Friday May 29, 2009, 11:00 AM 
local prevailing time.   
 
 
 
 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF ADDENDUM NO. 1 
   
The undersigned proposer acknowledges receipt of this addendum by returning 
one (1) copy of this form with the proposal package to the Purchasing 
Department, Fulton County Public Safety Building, 130 Peachtree Street, Suite 
1168, Atlanta, Georgia 30303 by the RFP due date and time Friday, May 29, 
2009, 11:00 A.M local prevailing time. 
 
 
This is to acknowledge receipt of Addendum No. 1, __________ day of 
____________, 2009. 
 

________________________________ 
      Legal Name of Bidder 
 
       

________________________________ 
      Signature of Authorized Representative 
 
 

________________________________ 
      Title 

http://www.fultoncountyga.gov/
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June 3, 2009 


 
Re:     09RFP67361A-CC 


Wolf Creek Amphitheater Operator 
 
Dear Proposers: 
 
Attached is one (1) copy of Addendum 5, hereby made a part of the above referenced Request 
For Proposal.   
 
Except as provided herein, all terms and conditions in the RFP referenced above remain 
unchanged and in full force and effect. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 


Cheryl Cochran 
 
Cheryl Cochran 
Chief Assistant Purchasing Agent 
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This Addendum forms a part of the contract documents and modifies the original RFP 
documents as noted below: 
 
1. The RFP due date and time of Friday, June 12, at 11:00 AM is changed to Friday, 
 June 26, 2009 at 11:00 AM local prevailing time. 
 
2. Page 2-2, paragraph 2.4 entitled “Clarification & Addenda,” date and time to submit 
 questions is changed from Friday, June 5, 2009 at 5:00 PM to Friday June 19, 2009 
 at 5:00 PM local prevailing time. 
 
3. The following is a response to a question received from an interested proposer under the 
 above referenced RFP:  
 
 Question:   Based upon the insurance requirements for the RFP our organization's  
   premium solely for the concerts will increase.  I understand that for the  
   prime but the RFP requires that the subs have the same coverage and I  
   believe this request is unreasonable based upon the scope of services  
   they'll be providing.  As you can imagine this is  tremendously impacting our 
   proposals from the subs. 
  
   Please let us know if basic commercial liability insurance can be applied for 
   the subs. 
 
 Response: Based on the Scope of Work for the "Operator" and "Sub-Contractors", the 
   insurance requirements for the sub contractors at the Wolf Creek   
   Amphitheater is as follows: 
 
  COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY INSURANCE (Including contractual Liability Insurance) 
  Bodily Injury and Property Damage Liability     Each Occurrence  -  $1,000,000 
  (Other than Products/completed Operations)   General Aggregate- $2,000,000 
  Products/completed Operation          Aggregate Limit      - $2,000,000 
  Personal and Advertising Injury          Limits                      - $1,000,000 
  Fire Damage            Limits                      - $   300,000 
 
  Commercial General Liability Insurance covering all operations (including Products/completed  
  operations, personal injury), Liquor Law Liability and Fire Loss, Liability for property damage and  
  bodily injury (including death). 
 







 


 


  BUSINESS AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY INSURANCE 
  Combined Single Limits                     Each Occurrence - $1,000,000 
  (including operation of non-owned, owned, and hired automobiles) The policy shall cover loss due 
  to bodily injury, or death of any person or property damage arising out of the ownership,   
  maintenance, operation or use of any motor vehicle whether owned, non-owned, hired or leased. 
 
The Operator/Manager is responsible for assuring that all Acts, Vendors and Other users of the 
premises comply with the aforementioned minimum insurance requirements. 
 
All Certificates of Insurance shall list the Operator and Fulton County Government as "Additional 
Insured" for General Liability and Automobile Liability. 
 
Coverages shall be Primary and Non-Contributory.  
 
The insurance requirements included in the RFP, DO APPLY TO THE OPERATOR.  
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF ADDENDUM NO. 5 
   
The undersigned proposer acknowledges receipt of this addendum by returning one (1) copy of 
this form with the proposal package to the Purchasing Department, Fulton County Public Safety 
Building, 130 Peachtree Street, Suite 1168, Atlanta, Georgia 30303 by the RFP due date and 
time Friday, June 26, 2009 at 11:00 AM local prevailing time. 
 
 
This is to acknowledge receipt of Addendum No. 5, __________ day of ____________, 2009. 
 


________________________________ 
      Legal Name of Bidder 
 
       


________________________________ 
      Signature of Authorized Representative 
 
 


________________________________ 
      Title 
 
 
 
 
 





		Addendum No.5

		Page Two

		Addendum No. 5






 


 


 
 
May 28, 2009 


 
Re:     09RFP67361A-CC 


Wolf Creek Amphitheater Operator 
 
Dear Proposers: 
 
Attached is one (1) copy of Addendum 4, hereby made a part of the above referenced Request 
For Proposal (RFP).   
 
Except as provided herein, all terms and conditions in the RFP referenced above remain 
unchanged and in full force and effect. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Cheryl Cochran 
 
Cheryl Cochran 
Chief Assistant Purchasing Agent 







 


 


09RFP67361A-CC 
Wolf Creek Amphitheater Operator 
 
Addendum No. 4 
Page Two 


 
This Addendum forms a part of the contract documents and modifies the original RFP 
documents as noted below: 
 
The following are responses to questions received form interested proposers under the above 
referenced RFP:  
 


1. Is there designated VIP parking? If so, how many spaces are there and where is it?  
No; however, vendors may designate an area. 
 


2. How will the VIP and general seats be made?  
Tables and chairs, and stadium seating. 
 


3. Is there office space in the amphitheater for the Operator and staff?  
Yes; office space is included in the construction. 


 
4. How much space is allocated for concessions?  


Three (3); possibly two (2) additional spaces will be allocated. 
 
5. How many entry points to the venue will there be?  


There will be three (3) entry points.  
 


6. Does Operator have access to ticket surcharge fee for capital improvements?  
The ticket surcharge for capital improvements will be administered by Fulton County with 
mutual agreement with the venue operator as to prioritization and allocation of funds to 
address projects. 
 


7. Will there be a generator(s) to cover the possible loss of electricity during an outage 
covering all buildings and the grounds?  
The venue operator will be responsible for procuring and managing this equipment as it is 
not in included in the construction plan. 


 
8. When is the $215,000 payable?  


The $215,000 will be payable in quarterly installments with box office, concessions and 
parking revenues payable upon mutual agreement between Fulton County and the 
awarded operator. 


 
9. What is Fulton County Government’s anticipated return on investment for the first five 


years from ticket sales, concessions, and parking?  







 


 


Fulton County has asked for and will rate proposals based in part on information 
proposers submit as to operations of the venue that maximize Fulton County return on 
investment with regard to ticket sales, concessions sales and parking revenues. 
 


10. Upon notification of the award, when does the Operator take ownership of the building?  
Fulton County will maintain ownership of the venue. The awarded vendor will begin 
operation of the venue upon execution of the contract and notice to proceed. 


 
11. Many of our sub-contractors (for instance HVAC) need to see detailed plans of the 


project prior to submitting a proposal.  We are requesting a copy of the plans (drawings) 
of the venue today with all buildings (including insides) and parking including as much 
detail as possible.  
The Wolf Creek Amphitheater Drawing is included as an attachment to this addendum 
entitled “WOLF CREEK AMPHITHEATER, FULTON COUNTY.” 
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF ADDENDUM NO. 4 
   
The undersigned proposer acknowledges receipt of this addendum by returning one (1) copy of 
this form with the proposal package to the Purchasing Department, Fulton County Public Safety 
Building, 130 Peachtree Street, Suite 1168, Atlanta, Georgia 30303 by the RFP due date and 
time Friday, June 12, 2009, 11:00 A.M local prevailing time. 
 
 
This is to acknowledge receipt of Addendum No. 4, __________ day of ____________, 2009. 
 


________________________________ 
      Legal Name of Bidder 
 
       


________________________________ 
      Signature of Authorized Representative 
 
 


________________________________ 
      Title 
 
 
 
 
 


























































































































































































































































































































































DEPARTMENT OF PURCHASING & CONTRACT COMPLIANCE 


Winner 2000- 2008 Achievement of Excellence in Procurement Award 
National Purchasing Institute 


 
Felicia Strong-Whitaker, Interim Director   


 
 
 
April 10, 2009 
 


 
Re:     09RFP67361A-CC 


Wolf Creek Amphitheater Operator 
 
Dear Proposers: 
 
Attached is one (1) copy of Addendum 1, hereby made a part of the above 
referenced Request For Proposal (RFP).   
 
Except as provided herein, all terms and conditions in the RFP referenced above 
remain unchanged and in full force and effect. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Cheryl Cochran 
 
Cheryl Cochran 
Chief Assistant Purchasing Agent  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 


Revised 01/02/2008 
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This Addendum forms a part of the contract documents and modifies the original 
RFP documents as noted below: 
 
 
The solicitation document for the above referenced RFP posted to the 
Fulton County Website at www.fultoncountyga.gov on Thursday, April 2, 
2009 is deleted in its entirety and replaced by an updated RFP document.   
 
Please download the revised copy of the RFP document and submit a 
response no later than the RFP due date of Friday May 29, 2009, 11:00 AM 
local prevailing time.   
 
 
 
 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF ADDENDUM NO. 1 
   
The undersigned proposer acknowledges receipt of this addendum by returning 
one (1) copy of this form with the proposal package to the Purchasing 
Department, Fulton County Public Safety Building, 130 Peachtree Street, Suite 
1168, Atlanta, Georgia 30303 by the RFP due date and time Friday, May 29, 
2009, 11:00 A.M local prevailing time. 
 
 
This is to acknowledge receipt of Addendum No. 1, __________ day of 
____________, 2009. 
 


________________________________ 
      Legal Name of Bidder 
 
       


________________________________ 
      Signature of Authorized Representative 
 
 


________________________________ 
      Title 



http://www.fultoncountyga.gov/
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June 12, 2009 


 
Re:     09RFP67361A-CC 


Wolf Creek Amphitheater Operator 
 
Dear Proposers: 
 
Attached is one (1) copy of Addendum 6, hereby made a part of the above referenced Request 
For Proposal.   
 
Except as provided herein, all terms and conditions in the RFP referenced above remain 
unchanged and in full force and effect. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 


Cheryl Cochran 
 
Cheryl Cochran 
Chief Assistant Purchasing Agent 
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This Addendum forms a part of the contract documents and modifies the original RFP 
documents as noted below: 
 
1. The RFP due date and time of Friday, June 26, 2009 at 11:00 AM local prevailing time 


remains the same. 
 
2. Page 2-2, paragraph 2.4 entitled “Clarification & Addenda,” date and time to submit 
 questions for June 19, 2009 at 5:00 PM local prevailing time remains. 
 
3. The following is a response to a question received from an interested proposer under the 
 above referenced RFP:  
 
There is mention of only one star dressing room. Can you tell me if there is any layout on line 
somewhere that shows in detail the various buildings and backstage layout? 
Typically, there are a minimum of 2-4 star dressing rooms as well as some band/orchestra 
rooms in addition to the Green room, crew meal room, and band manager rooms. If we were to 
secure a contract, and if any of these rooms are not available, then does the county have a plan 
to feed crews etc on site through additional build-out?  
Is it possible to arrange a more detailed site visit next week?  
  
-Site Plan drawings have been uploaded to the bid board. 
 
Is it possible that you would extend the bid response date to allow for building relationships 
amongst various vendors to provide for a more comprehensive response?  
  
-The bid date has been extended until Friday, June 26, 2009 11:00 AM local prevailing      
time.  
 
Currently the parking does not seem adequate to the needs for busy events. Also, there does 
not seem to be any system to keep cars from jumping curbs and parking at their own whim. 
Does the county intend to install any kind of fencing or barricade system to better manage this 
process? Is there a system that has been discussed with Marta to supply dedicated or express 
busses to the facility from the nearest park and ride locations much like the Braves employ?  
  
-To date, we have not approached Marta for discussions regarding transportation. The 
County is open to such discussions. 
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Can you explain how the facility is secured against casual non-ticketed entry?  
 
-The lease-operator will have the responsibility for all security coverage. 
 
You mentioned that you are looking for sponsorships but not naming rights sponsors. Do you 
already have some companies in mind for this prestigious opportunity? Can you reveal them 
since we do not want to tread on ground otherwise mined for sponsorship?  Are there any 
anticipated restrictions to sponsorship (alcohol/beer/wine sponsors)?  
 
-There are currently no sponsors in place for naming rights sponsorships. There are no 
restrictions in place for the types of sponsors listed above. 
  
Is there currently a plan for a dedicated party/event space/area for private or special events 
hosted by corporations or sponsors for VIP guests? If so, where on the layout does this 
happen?  
  
-Please review the County’s website www.fultoncountyga.gov. for a copy of the site plan 
drawings that were included under addendum 4 on May 24, 2009 . 
 
Has the county begun any kind of marketing effort to date to get this facility in front of various 
promoters and event coordinators so that they get "on the radar" prior to the 2010 season? 
Typically, booking begins several months prior to any performance date through inquiry into the 
availability of dates that accommodate a tour in a region or city location. But it is also important 
to make sure that the promoters and tour managers build faith in a facilities ability to attract an 
audience specific to their acts. Thus it is more likely that they will listen to a pitch if the facility is 
familiar to them rather than some place they never heard of. This is why I wonder if the county 
has begun to promote and create any buzz in the venue community about this amphitheater. If 
so, can you share any discussions or concerns that the professionals may have for this facility?  
  
-The County has produced and presented a concert series for 5 years prior to building 
the facility.  The venue is on the radar as a result of this. The only concern we have is 
ensuring availability of acts to successfully fill a concert season. 
 
 
 
 



http://www.fultoncountyga.gov/
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You stated in the RFP and in the addendum that the county expects a minimum rent of 
$215,000 plus a percentage of food/beverage/ticket/parking. Can you share why the county 
feels this is a justified rent expectation? I'm sure you are aware that Lakewood Amphitheater 
with a capacity nearly 4 times the Wolf creek venue and a 20 year history of success has within 
the last 6 weeks signed a new lease arrangement with the City for $180,000 plus 10% of 
ancillary revenues? Their marketing budget is significantly larger and more experienced to sell  
tickets at their seasoned venue than a start up company is at Wolf Creek in the face of 
competition from Amphitheaters in Dekalb, Austell, and Peachtree City not to mention 
Lakewood and Chastain. Each of those venues is also seasonal in nature and anticipates a 
number of successful events during the same summer 3 month season, primarily. Given this, is 
it possible that the county will consider a management fee contract at least during the initial start 
up year?  
 
 
We are aware from the local press of the Lakewood amphitheater lease details. The RFP 
at this point is soliciting an operator. 
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF ADDENDUM NO. 6 
   
The undersigned proposer acknowledges receipt of this addendum by returning one (1) copy of 
this form with the proposal package to the Purchasing Department, Fulton County Public Safety 
Building, 130 Peachtree Street, Suite 1168, Atlanta, Georgia 30303 by the RFP due date and 
time Friday, June 26, 2009 at 11:00 AM local prevailing time. 
 
 
This is to acknowledge receipt of Addendum No. 6, __________ day of ____________, 2009. 
 


________________________________ 
      Legal Name of Bidder 
 
       


________________________________ 
      Signature of Authorized Representative 
 
 


________________________________ 
      Title 
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May 15, 2009 
 


Re:     09RFP67361A-CC 
Wolf Creek Amphitheater Operator 


 
Dear Proposers: 
 
Attached is one (1) copy of Addendum 3, hereby made a part of the above referenced Request 
For Proposal.   
 
Except as provided herein, all terms and conditions in the RFP referenced above remain 
unchanged and in full force and effect. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 


Cheryl Cochran 
 
Cheryl Cochran 
Chief Assistant Purchasing Agent 
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This Addendum forms a part of the contract documents and modifies the original RFP 
documents as noted below: 
 
The RFP due date and time of Friday, May 29, at 11:00 AM is changed to Friday, June 12, 2009 at 11:00 AM 
local prevailing time. 
 
Page 2-2, paragraph 2.4 entitled “Clarification & Addenda,” date and time to submit questions is changed 
from Friday, May 22, 2009 at 5:00 PM to Friday June 5, 2009 at 5:00 PM local prevailing time. 
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF ADDENDUM NO. 3 
   
The undersigned proposer acknowledges receipt of this addendum by returning one (1) copy of 
this form with the proposal package to the Purchasing Department, Fulton County Public Safety 
Building, 130 Peachtree Street, Suite 1168, Atlanta, Georgia 30303 by the RFP due date and 
time Friday, June 12, 2009 at 11:00 AM local prevailing time. 
 
 
This is to acknowledge receipt of Addendum No. 3, __________ day of ____________, 2009. 
 


________________________________ 
      Legal Name of Bidder 
 
       


________________________________ 
      Signature of Authorized Representative 
 
 


________________________________ 
      Title 
 
 
 
 
 








 


 


 
 
 
April 20, 2009 


 
Re:     09RFP67361A-CC 


Wolf Creek Amphitheater Operator 
 
Dear Proposers: 
 
Attached is one (1) copy of Addendum 2, hereby made a part of the above referenced Request 
For Proposal (RFP).   
 
Except as provided herein, all terms and conditions in the RFP referenced above remain 
unchanged and in full force and effect. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Cheryl Cochran 
 
Cheryl Cochran 
Chief Assistant Purchasing Agent 
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This Addendum forms a part of the contract documents and modifies the original RFP 
documents as noted below: 
 
The following are responses to questions received form interested proposers under the above 
referenced RFP:  
 


Question: Does this RFP say that Fulton County is looking for $215,000 flat fee for rent, plus 
a percentage of revenues? Or is Fulton County looking for the percentage of 
revenues from the operator with the $215,000 the floor minimum, which means the 
percentage of revenues going to Fulton County would be at least $215,000?  


 
Answer: Yes, Fulton County is requiring a $215,000 flat annual lease fee and a   
  percentage of revenues from ticket sales, concessions and parking. 
 
Question: Additionally, the RFP mentions a $3 per ticket fee (for Capital reserve) plus a $1 


per ticket fee (for noise traffic study).  Is this combined $4 per ticket fee already a 
done deal, even if it means it will severely reduce the quantity and quality of 
events that will be able to utilize the amphitheater, or is this just a proposal?  


 
Answer: Fulton County has proposed what amounts to a combined $4 fee per ticket 


surcharge to  address ongoing maintenance of amphitheatre systems and to 
address noise abatement issues.  Originally, we did not allow for this fee to be 
adjustable by proposers.  Proposers should adjust these fees to provide a 
projection that she or he believes to be reasonable and will allow successful 
operation of the venue.   


 
  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 







 


 


09RFP67361A-CC 
Wolf Creek Amphitheater Operator 
 
Addendum No. 2 
Page Three 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF ADDENDUM NO. 2 
   
The undersigned proposer acknowledges receipt of this addendum by returning one (1) copy of 
this form with the proposal package to the Purchasing Department, Fulton County Public Safety 
Building, 130 Peachtree Street, Suite 1168, Atlanta, Georgia 30303 by the RFP due date and 
time Friday, May 29, 2009, 11:00 A.M local prevailing time. 
 
 
This is to acknowledge receipt of Addendum No. 2, __________ day of ____________, 2009. 
 


________________________________ 
      Legal Name of Bidder 
 
       


________________________________ 
      Signature of Authorized Representative 
 
 


________________________________ 
      Title 
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